IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SOUTH FLORIDA NATURAL GAS)
COMPANY)

Petitioner,

vs.

PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Respondent.

OEC 9 1957
CLERK SUPPLY COUNTY
By
Case No. 191 035

Appeal from Final Agency Action of the Public Service Commission

Petitioner's Initial Brief

Rose, Sundstrom & Bentley 2544 Blairstone Pines Drive Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 877-6555 Fine Jacobson Schwartz Nash Block & England One CenTrust Financial Center 100 Southeast 2nd Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 577-4000

Preliminary Statement

Throughout this brief South Florida Natural Gas Company will be referenced as "the Company" and the Public Service Commission will be referenced as "the Commission". Citations to the record on appeal will be shown as "R ____."

Statement of the Case

On July 14, 1986, the Company filed with the Commission a request for a permanent rate increase of \$343,414 and an interim rate increase of \$120,213 per year. (R 7). On September 22, the Commission suspended the Company's proposed permanent rates pending a hearing and final decision in the case. (R 13). On November 19, the Commission approved a revised interim rate request of \$88,392. (R 33).

On August 4, 1987, the Commission issued Order No. 17933, entitled Final Order, which approved a permanent rate increase of \$49,542 and ordered a refund of \$38,850 on an annual basis for interim rates which had been collected at an annual rate of \$88,392. (R 336, 338, 347). A timely notice of appeal was filed in the Court with respect to Order No. 17933. (R 372).

Pursuant to a directive of the Court entered on October 5, the Company's initial brief was to be served on December 5, a Saturday. Counsel for the Company confirmed with the clerk of

¹ The Company had revised its interim rate request after the Commission waived the 60-day requirement of section 366.071(2)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985).

the Court that service on December 7 was appropriate. Upon application of the Company, the Commission approved a stay of its final order pending appeal.

Statement of the Facts

The procedural aspects of this case are as important to the issues on appeal as the substantive facts which underlie the Commission's determination of rate case issues. For the Court's convenience, the Company has separated the procedural facts from the substantive facts.

1. Procedural facts.

The Company's rate case began with a request for approval of a test year ended December 31, 1985 (R 1), which was approved. (R 31). The Company filed its petition for permanent and interim rate increases with the Commission on July 14, 1986. (R 7). This petition was submitted using the format for minimum filing requirements (known in utility parlance as MFRs) as required by the Commission. (R 7; Vol. V, p. 1). The Company was furnished a computer model program, in the form of a floppy disk, for its rate filing. This disk had been derived from a rate proceeding involving the state's largest gas utility company, Peoples Gas Company. (R 187). The Commission's disk provided a format for the Company to submit data for a so-called "test year", in order to provide an historical record on which to determine rate case issues, and for two consecutive twelve month

periods called "attrition years." Attrition years are used in rate proceedings to project the Company's financial position and revenue needs for the two successive years after the test year.

Shortly after the Company's petition was filed, the staff of the Commission challenged the Company's proposed interim rate increase as regards an intercompany debt carried on the Company's books, believing it required a so-called "acquisition adjustment" to the Company's proposal for interim rates. The staff's challenge to this entry delayed action on the interim rate increase for approximately 75 days (R 13-14), but after examining evidence and discussing the matter with Company officials and outside accountants the staff determined that the Company's original treatment of the items would stand. (R 33, 132-34, 149-53, 186).

On October 15, 1986, the Commission issued an order setting prehearing procedures and filing deadlines for all parties to the Company's rate proceeding. (R 27). The Company filed its prefiled exhibits and direct testimony in accordance with that order on November 24, 1986.

Toward the end of 1986 and continuing into early 1987, the staff of the Commission submitted more than 90 interrogatories to the Company, took the deposition of two consulting accountants and the financial vice-president of the Company, and requested that the Company produce approximately 26 exhibits relating to financial data. (R 50-51). At that time no

person or party had appeared in the proceeding to challenge the Company's rate requests.

In January 1987, Commission staff filed its direct testimony under the order on prehearing procedures, consisting only of testimony from one of its employees, Mark Cicchetti, on the issue of the reasonable cost of common equity capital. (R Vol. IV, pp. 196-218). No other testimony or pleading was pre-filed by the Commission staff, and no other person or party subsequently sought to appear or provide testimony in this rate proceeding at any stage. Pursuant to the order on prehearing procedures, the record of exhibits and direct testimony was at this point technically closed. (R 28).

On March 11, 1987, the staff of the Commission filed a prehearing statement which contained 56 "issues" which the staff had identified to be addressed in the rate proceeding, together with a number of exhibits prepared by staff of the Commission's various divisions. (R 66). The Company filed its prehearing statement, in accordance with the order on prehearing procedures, on March 12 (R 114), and amended it one day later. (R 116).

On March 13, counsel for the Company and staff members of the Commission held a pre-prehearing conference, to identify issues for the rate proceeding and to clarify the role of Commission staff in the proceeding. (R 225). On March 25, a prehearing conference was held before one Commissioner, at which time discussion took place regarding the role of Commission staff in the rate proceeding, and as to the alleged "issues" for the

rate hearing. (R Vol. III). At the same time and place that this conference was held, the Commission conducted a customer service hearing for the general public. (Id.)

On April 3, the Commission issued a prehearing order which purported to set the "issues" for the rate case hearing. (R 118). The issues raised in this directive consisted only of alleged issues which had been developed and put forward by the staff of the Commission, as there were no intervenors or other parties in the proceeding. (R. Vol. IV, pp. 12-14).

A public hearing was held on the Company's petition for a rate increase on April 8. (R Vol. IV). The only testimony presented was that of Company witnesses, who were cross-examined by a staff attorney of the Commission. At this hearing, the Company's MFRs and prefiled testimony were formally made a part of the record of the proceedings (R 38-39, 51, 52-76, 194), and the parties stipulated that the prefiled testimony of Mr. Cicchetti would be admitted and relied upon, for the limited purpose of determining the reasonable cost of common equity capital. (R 194). Certain documents used by staff of the Commission during cross-examination of Company witnesses were also admitted into evidence. (R 194-95). No substantially affected person testified, and no member of the staff of the Commission testified.

At the hearing, the Commission authorized the Company to submit a late-filed exhibit in order to document its revised figures for the Company's rate case expense. (R 192-93). This

late-filed exhibit, denominated exhibit 11, reflected aggregate rate case expenses of \$142,093. (R Vol. V).

The Company filed a statement of issues and positions on May 26. The initial portion of this statement again questioned the role of the staff of the Commission in a proceeding where no substantially affected person intervened to challenge the Company's proposed rates, and no evidence other than that of the Company was placed on the record. (R 176). On June 18, the staff of the Commission filed a memorandum containing its recommendations, discussing again the matters the staff had previously raised as alleged issues and comparing the Company's position against the staff's. This memorandum is not before the Court as a part of the record on appeal. The Company requested its inclusion on the record but was advised it cannot be included by reason of the Court's decision in Occidental Chemical Co. v. Mayo, 351 So.2d 336, 341 n. 9 (Fla. 1977).

At a special agenda conference on July 13, which was continued on July 15, discussion was had and action was taken by Commissioners Wilson and Herndon on various issues in the rate proceeding. When the Company sought to have the transcripts of these conferences included in the record, the Commission advised that they could not be included as a result of the Occidental decision. The decisions of the two Commissioners became the Commission's Order No. 17933, which is the subject of this appeal.

2. Substantive facts.

The Company is a relatively small, regulated natural gas utility, having approximately 3,200 customers and only ten full time employees. (Vol. IV, pp. 87-88). The Company had requested and obtained rate increases in previous years, the last of which was obtained in 1984 at the end of its 1983 rate case. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1, p. 2; Vol. IV, p. 84).

Following the Commission's suggested format for MFRs, the Company placed before the Commission required data with respect to its request for proposed rate increases, in the form of detailed financial information and prefiled testimony of a Company vice-president and an outside, consulting accountant. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1; Vol. IV, pp. 16-19, 52-76). These same individuals later testified at the rate hearing, verifying the information presented and answering questions from the staff of the Commission. (R Vol. IV, pp. 14, 37).

Other than the prefiled statement of Commission employee Cicchetti, no staff person presented testimony or documentary evidence in support of positions and issues asserted on its behalf. No other person or party appeared or offered evidence in the proceeding. Consequently, the record in this case is composed solely of Company data and testimony, with the sole exception of Mr. Cicchetti's non-controversial testimony regarding the cost of common equity capital.

The Commission's final order denied the Company complete rate relief in several respects. Because of the space limitations for this appeal, the facts underlying all of the actions taken by the Commission can not be reviewed here. Rather, several representative acts of the agency are summarized in the following paragraphs.

(a) Attrition years. In its MFRs, the Company followed the format provided by the Commission for submitting data for a test year and two attrition years. (R 338).

Substantial and competent evidence was provided, initially and subsequently, in support of the attrition calculations submitted. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1; Vol. IV, pp. 37-40, 85-89, 153-54).

Throughout the evidentiary phases of the proceeding, the staff of the Commission raised concerns and caused the Company time and expense relative to a number of adjustments in the Company's calculations for attrition years. (E.q., R Vol. V, pp. 156-76). At no time, however, did the staff of the Commission (or any other person) suggest that the use of attrition years was inappropriate.

In its final order after the close of evidence, the two assigned Commissioners determined that <u>no</u> attrition years would be approved. (R 338). Rather, the Commissioners randomly selected and approved a few discreet adjustments to the test year

to reflect "known changes" in the test year data. (Id.).² No opportunity was available, or subsequently made available, for the Company either to challenge the elimination of attrition years or to demonstrate that other items of known change were omitted from consideration.

(b) Rate case expense. In the MFRs filed at the commencement of the rate case, the Company reported a projected expense of \$63,000 for the rate case based on its prior rate case experience. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1; Vol. IV, pp. 40, 48). After having incurred the costs of defending the Company's interim rate request against the staff's challenge to an intercompany debt item as being an acquisition adjustment, and the costs of responding to the Commission staff's extensive, formal discovery efforts, the Company revised its estimate of rate case expense to \$115,253, and later to \$142,384, based on increased costs for lawyers, for accountants, and for the Company itself. (R IV, 48-51; Vol. V, Exh. 11).

A Company witness testified extensively as to the reasons for and basis of the increase over initial estimate.

(E.q., R Vol. IV, pp. 40, 119-37, 189-90, 192). Neither the staff of the Commission nor any other person presented evidence

In an appropriate case, utility rates may be set on the basis of a test year adjusted by known changes in facts occurring after the close of the test year. See <u>United Telephone Company v. Mayo</u>, 345 So.2d 648, 650 n. l. (Fla. 1977). The Commission here, however, adjusted the test year only for known increases in property insurance (R 344) and rate case expense (R 345), and for a known decrease in the cost of long-term debt. (R 346).

on this issue. In its final order, the Commission arbitrarily determined that only \$94,000 would be allowed as rate case expense. (R 344-45).

- (c) <u>Salary expense</u>. In its MFRs, the Company included \$2,800 as part of the compensation paid to one of its vice-presidents. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1). A witness for the Company verified that this amount had indeed been paid, and provided testimony supporting the appropriateness of this item of expense. (R Vol. IV, p. 79-80, 83-84, 115-18, 183-86). Neither the staff of the Commission nor any other person presented evidence on this issue. In its final order, the Commission denied this compensation expense on the ground that the expense was "nonrecurring". (R 341).
- reflected an expense in the test year for operating and maintenance expenses attributable to net variances of \$32,332 from the Commission's so-called "benchmarks". (R Vol. V, Exh. 1). The computation of benchmark variances required by the Commission's format for MFRs is a methodology for examining line items to see how they increase above what might be considered a norm of operating and maintenance expenses, tested against like items in the Company's prior rate case. (R 341; Vol IV, p. 94). The Company's outside accountant, who had originally devised the benchmark variance concept for utility rate cases, submitted documentary evidence and testimony as to the basis for variance in the Company's MFRs. (R Vol. IV, pp. 90-95, 102-18). Neither

the staff of the Commission nor any other person presented evidence on this issue. In its final order, the Commission adjusted the Company's allowed expenses downward by \$43,793, on the ground that the benchmark variances requested by the Company had not been "justified." (R 341-43).

- (e) <u>Billing determinants</u>. In its MFR's, the Company identified billing determinants it had computed for the purpose of setting "per customer" rates to be charged. (R Vol. V, Exh. 1). Billing determinants result from a mathematical computation which divides projected or allowed rate recovery by the amount of therms of gas used by customers in the Company's various classes of service. The Company's outside accountant testified at length regarding an historical pattern of diminishing consumption for natural gas, and as to his methodology for reflecting that diminishment in projecting requested rate relief. (R Vol. IV, pp. 156-76). Neither the staff of the Commission nor any other person presented evidence on this issue. In its final order, the Commission rejected the Company's billing determinants and adopted in their place a set of determinants based on customer usage of gas as of December 31, 1985. (R 347).
- (f) Other items related to rate base, net operating income and cost of capital were also adjusted by the Commission in its final order. ³ The Company will not discuss other

³ These three elements compose the basis for determining rates which a public utility may charge. (R 338).

individual adjustments, except to note that they too result from the flawed, overall process of the Commission in dealing with this rate case.

Summary of Argument

The hearing conducted by the Commission for the Company's rate case did not comport with the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act or provide due process of law. The Commission accepted evidence and testimony from its staff behind closed doors after the proceeding was closed, and relied on that data to deny rate relief for which competent and substantial evidence had been produced. The Commission's due process violations permeated the proceeding. They included the imposition of impossible burdens of proof, the creation of disputed issues although no party appeared to challenge the Company's evidence, the treatment of staff questions as substantive evidence, and the disregard of unchallenged and unrefuted evidence presented by the Company on numerous issues of fact.

Prominent examples of the Commission's arbitrary action are its rejection of the attrition year methodology for determining rate cases, its disallowance of rate case expenses incurred as a result of the staff's discovery activities, its disallowance of allegedly "nonrecurring" salary expense, its arbitrary adjustment of operating and maintenance expense benchmark variances, and its unwarranted adjustment of billing

determinants. Each of these arbitrary actions of the Commission can and should be reversed by the Court. As these items are merely exemplary of the flawed process by which the entire case was handled by the Commission, the Court should direct the entry of an order which awards all amounts proved by the Company in the non-adversarial proceeding below.

The Court should not remand for a new proceeding, however. The costs of a new rate proceeding, to cure the Commission's due process deprivations, should not be borne by the Company or its customers. Rather, the Court should direct the entry of an appropriate order granting the rate relief requested, as authorized by section 120.68(13)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (1985).

<u>Argument</u>

1. Introduction.

Unlike the usual utility rate case, in which arguments are presented as to whether competent and substantial evidence supports a Commission determination because parties in the proceeding had presented evidence to support Commission action adverse to the rate applicant, this case uniquely involves the denial of requested rate relief based on no record other than the Company's evidence. 4 Other than the agreed testimony of Mr.

⁴ Documents were introduced during staff's cross-examination of Company witnesses. Technically, of course, this evidence was Footnote continued on next page.

Cicchetti on rate on equity capital (which is not in dispute), there is no evidence of record beyond the written evidence and testimony of the Company itself. Yet the Commission has slashed a request for \$343,414 for the test year down to \$49,542, and has completely eliminated two attrition years of increased revenue for the Company. These actions were taken without a shred of evidence on the record to support them.

The staff consistently disavowed that it was speaking for the Commission in raising issues and developing non-record computations and assertions. (R 229-30). In allowing staff to play the dual roles of a non-party adversary and advisor to the Commission, the Commission disregarded the requirements of the Administrative Procedure Act ("the APA"), to which it is indisputedly subject, and the fundamentals of due process. In fact, the action of the Commission in this proceeding presents a due process issue of unprecedented magnitude, for not one but three distinct violations of due process occurred.

Footnote continued from previous page.

inadmissible, as it was offered during the Company's case in chief and could not be subjected to cross-examination or rebuttal evidence. (See discussions at Vol IV, pp. 95-102, 125-28, 156, 177-81, at which time this evidence was objected to.)

Ordinarily it is improper to permit the introduction of exhibits during cross-examination.

Padgett v. State, 53 So.2d 106, 109 (Fla. 1951). See also Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 612.2 (2d Ed. 1984). The introduction of inadmissable evidence in this case goes to the due process of the proceeding, rather that the quality of the evidence itself.

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