IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SOUTH FLORIDA NATURAL GAS COMPANY,))
Appellant,) CASE NO. 71,035
v.)
FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,)
Appellee.))

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

WILLIAM S. BILENKY GENERAL COUNSEL

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7463

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Statement of Facts and Case submitted by the Appellant is factually accurate and will not be challanged by the Commission. However, the inference in those statements that the delay in processing the request for a rate increase was somehow the fault of the Commission is totally inaccurate. Had it not been for the assistance offerred by the Commission staff during the preparation of the Company's filings, the Petitioner would not have even met the minimum filing requirements.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission has the authority to investigate the rate filings of a utility and determine if the company has demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that it is entitled to the relief sought. The Commission is under no obligation to advocate any position but if it elects to do so, the staff member supporting that position appears as any other party in the proceeding, unavailable to the Commission as an advisor or during deliberation.

The Petitioner is not entitled as a matter of law to have an adversary in order to satisfy its due process rights. It is entitled to notice, a hearing and a decision based on the record which it has a burden to develop. Material issues of fact are developed when the Company files for a rate change, putting at issue the lawful rates then in effect and the supporting elements used to set those lawful rates.

The burden of proof, or the ultimate burden of persuasion, always rests with the party seeking an affirmative ruling. Here the utility sought a change in rates but refused in its hearing to demonstrate that it had acted prudently in incurring additional expenses. It argued that the completing of the minimum filing requirements shifted the burden to the Commission to demonstrate that the Company had acted imprudently. Such is clearly not the law in Florida.

The Commission had instituted a policy of using benchmark indicators to eliminate the need for proving the reasonableness of

expense items. The benchmark procedure uses the amount of expense the company proved reasonable in the last case increased by a compound multiplier using among other factors, the consumer price index. The Company had to establish the reasonableness of only those expenses which exceeded the benchmark, and not all expenses.

The Company objected to the procedure claiming that the Commission must carry the burden of showing that the benchmark is reasonable. The benchmark is not a demonstration that some costs are unreasonable. It merely identifies those costs which appear to be unreasonable, lessening the burden of the utility to justify all expenses.

The Company refused to demonstrate to the Commission that it had been experiencing attrition, instead opting to rely upon its completed minimum filing requirements, arguing that the burden had somehow shifted. It opined that the Commission should demonstrate that the Company had failed to experience attrition. Again, it is not the Commission that bears the ultimate burden of persuasion as to the unreasonableness of the company's alleged expenditures.

The Company refused to present half of its case, that of establishing the reasonableness of its claim. It insisted that it be compensated for its entire rate case expense without regard to the unreasonableness of the prosecution of its rate case. The Commission set the rate case expense at the level found to be reasonable for a gas company which acted prudently in justifying an increase in rates.

Finally, the Appellant seeks to have this Court engage in rate making. The act of setting rates is a legislative function. The courts do not have the authority to substitute their judgment for the Commission nor reweigh the evidence and find in favor of the Company. The Company asks this Court to determine that the Company had acted prudently in increasing its expenses after precipitously refusing to tender any evidence in support of that position to the Commission.

The Company failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence an entitlement to rate relief except to the limited extent that it demonstrated known changes for some expense items.

POINT

THE COMMISSION MAY DENY A REQUEST FOR RATE INCREASE WHERE THE UTILITY REFUSES TO ESTABLISH THE PRUDENCE OF ITS INVESTMENTS AND EXPENSES.

1. The Appellant confuses the distinction between sections 120.57(1) and 120.57(2), Florida Statutes.

Proceedings before the Public Service Commission take many The Commission utilizes the informal proceeding found in section 120.57(2), Florida Statutes, when it is expected that most issues will be resolved without resort to the necessity of a formal hearing. In those proceedings where it is anticipated that the requirements for a more formal setting is necessary, such as major rate cases, the Commission foregoes the informal proceeding and initially institutes a formal, section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, proceeding. In an informal proceeding, under section 120.57(2), the petitioner presents a prima facie case for agency action. The agency then makes a "preliminary" determination in which it proposes the action it will take in the event that no hearing is requested. This has been declared to be "free-form" agency action which becomes final if no one requests a hearing. In the event of a request for a hearing within a specified period, The initial the agency's initial proposed action evaporates. action is not reviewed. The petitioner is given a hearing de novo under section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes. Florida Department of Transportation v. J.W.C. Company, Inc., 396 So.2d 778, 786 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

Here, the Commission initiated a formal hearing under section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, without going through the alternative procedure of an informal proceeding. Appellant claims erroneously that the Commission's election of proceeding with a formal hearing under section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, is flawed for several reasons. Each will be addressed in turn.

Appellant first contends that since the Commission did not take a position on all issues, sponsor testimony nor present tangible evidence, there were no issues of material fact in the The contention does not comport with the law in proceeding. Florida. Petitioners seeking a change in rates, by the act of filing, create issues of material fact as to all elements comprising the justification for new rates. The reason for this is obvious. Rates previously approved by the Commission are lawful rates carrying with them the imprimatur of state action and the presumption of validity. By petitioning for a change in rates, a party is challenging the legality of those rates, putting at issue the elements justifying those rates. Therefore each element supporting the proposed new rates is at issue with those elements used to establish the presumptively valid lawful rates.

Under the Commission's rate setting authority, a petitioner seeking to change lawful rates must establish that the existing rates are unfair, unreasonable or unjustly discriminatory. §366.06(1), Fla. Stat. The method used to meet this standard is to show by a preponderance of evidence that the rates presently in effect fail to compensate the utility for its prudently incurred

expenses and fail to produce a reasonable return on the company's investment in property used and useful in the public service.

Gulf Power Co. v. Public Service Commission, 453 So.2d 799 (Fla. 1984). Until the utility has sustained the burden of proof of these statutory criteria, facts are disputed by the filing of a petition for rate relief.

In a situation analogous to the filing of a petition for rate relief, this Court had the opportunity to consider whether the filing for a bank charter, in itself, raised material issues of fact. In Peoples Bank of Indian River County v. State Department of Banking and Finance, 395 So.2d 521, 524 (Fla. 1981), it held that "[i]ndeed, in a sense the statutory criteria listed in section 659.03(2), Florida Statutes, are, until established, 'disputed' facts since the applicant for a license has the burden of showing that he has satisfied them and is therefore entitled to a bank charter."

The Commission has gone beyond the statutory criteria and by rule has fleshed out the statutory criteria. It has promulgated rules defining the minimum filing requirements for gas utilities seeking rate increases. Rule 25-7.039, Fla. Admin. Code. By enacting rules, the Commission has enumerated those elements of expenses and investment which it has learned through other rate proceedings should be proven in order to support a change in rates. In doing so, the Commission has "closed the gap" between what it knows and what the petitioner should file and defend in its request. McDonald v. Department of Banking and Finance, 346 So.2d 569, 584 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). These minimum filing

requirements, or MFR's, must be proven by a preponderance of the evidence before the Commission can make a finding that the rates are justified and are in the public interest. Therefore the utility is confronted with material issues of fact in justifying all elements of the proposed rates. In the event that the utility fails to sustain its burden, the existing rates remain in effect having the full force and effect of law.

In an analogous situation, when a party failed to demonstrate that the existing rate structures in effect were discriminatory or unjust, this Court found that the lawful rate structures then in effect were still valid. In <u>Occidental Chemical Co. v. Mayo</u>, 351 So.2d 336, 341 (Fla. 1977) this Court held:

... An examination of the relevant portions of Order No. 6794 discloses that, except for a few unexplained reclassifications of customers, the Commission retained the basic rate structure previously approved for Florida Power as being fair and reasonable. It is difficult for us to overturn a rate structure previously found to be fair and reasonable, absent a clear showing in the record that the earlier structure was arbitrary or that changed circumstances have made it unreasonable. (Emphasis supplied)

Therefore, absent a clear showing here that the rates currently on file for South Florida Natural Gas, and previously approved by the Commission, are arbitrary or unreasonable, the Petitioner fails in its burden of establishing a need for new rates.

2. The absence of an adversary does not deprive the Appellant of due process of law.

The Appellant next maintains that the absence of an adversary presenting an adversarial position, deprived it of due process in that the Commission did not have evidence in the record to support any other position than that advocated by the Petitioner. Such a position is hopelessly insupportable. It is not the role of the Commission nor its staff to present a contrary position on all issues presented by a petitioner. As conceded by the Appellant, the petitioner seeking a change in rates must sustain the burden of proof as to all issues supporting that request.

The usual role of staff in a rate request proceeding is to test the validity, credibility and competency of the evidence presented to the Commission in support of a rate increase. It is the investigatory arm of the Commission. Section 366.06(1), Florida Statutes, provides the standard by which the Commission is to act during a request for a rate adjustment. It provides that:

... The commission shall investigate and determine the actual and legitimate costs of the property of each utility company, actually used and useful in the public service, and shall keep a current record of of the net investment of each public utility company in such property which value, as determined by the commission, shall be used for rate making purposes and shall be money honestly and prudently invested ... in serving the public.

At the conclusion of a rate proceeding, the staff of the Commission then evaluates the evidence presented and makes a recommendation to the Commission. Appellant would have the staff and the Commission abandon this function and undertake to present a contrary case on the company's entitlement.

The Commission staff has no affirmative burden in a proceeding unless it wishes to advocate a position. In the event that a staff member wishes to advocate a position, that member will not be available to advise the Commission during its deliberations. \$120.66(1)(b), Fla. Stat. When the staff seeks to advocate a position, it has the status of any other party. Its position is prefiled and the staff member is available for cross examination. This role serves the purpose of placing before the Commission affirmative positions on issues that the Commission may wish to consider. This testimony may not necessarily be adverse to the petitioner, but in all events the position of staff will either represent a departure from previous elements of rate making used in the company's last rate case, or it may represent a position considering changed circumstances advocated by staff.

In this proceeding, the staff member who prefiled testimony was advocating a level for a return on equity reflecting changed circumstances in the money markets. It was later stipulated to by the parties. Because of this participation in the case, the witness was not available to the Commission during its deliberating session nor as an advisor.

Whereas the Commission may institute a proceeding where it finds that rates are unjust, unreasonable, insufficient or unjustly discriminatory, it is under no obligation to advocate any rate increase for a utility.

... [T]he commission shall <u>determine</u> and by order fix the fair and reasonable rates, rentals, charges or classifications ... to be ... followed in the future. §366.07, Fla. Stat.

What the Appellant has ignored is the role of the Commission.

It is authorized to investigate rate change requests and determine whether the proposed rate changes are in the public interest.

Inherent in this procedure is a silent party, the public.

3. The record demonstrates that the Company obstructed an attempt to investigate its rate filing.

A review of the record demonstrates that the Company undertook a course of conduct which directly conflicted with the statutes and the holdings of this Court. It did so at its own peril and "failed."

At every opportunity, the Company attempted to obstruct the staff's performance of its statutory obligation to aid the Commission in "investigating" the rate filing of South Florida Natural Gas. When the only Company witness, Robert J. Morgan, Vice President, was tendered as a witness, Counsel for the Company objected to any inquiry into Company operations.

The Company objected to the first question propounded by staff of the witness. The staff was inquiring into the Company's compliance with the Commission's "gas emergency" rules.

(Tr. 19.) Next the Company objected to inquiry into the Company's maintenance of "continuing property records."

(Tr. 25.) When the objection was overruled and inquiry permitted, it was learned that the Company had been maintaining on its books and records, for rate making purposes, gas lines which were no

longer in existence. (Tr. 29.) The Company next objected to a question propounded to the witness whether he was familiar with "accounting." (Tr. 32.) The next question asked shed some light on the Company's obstructionist policy.

Q (By Mr. Smith) Mr. Morgan, is it true that in the course of this case, in your investigations of the retired and abandoned plant that you found that there were 170 lines that had been abandoned but which were not retired off the books?

A Yes.

(Tr. 33.)

The very next line of questioning attempted by the staff concerned the allocation of physical plant between regulated and non-regulation operations. The Company again objected.

(Tr. 34.) When the staff tried to inquire into the allocation of an employee's time between regulated and non-regulated activities of the Company the following exchange occurred.

Q (By Mr. Smith) Okay. And let me ask you about one other person. Is Mr. Walker, is he a salesman who also is involved in regulated and non-regulated sales? Does he sell appliances and promote the use of gas?

Mr. Bentley: Objection to relevance, Your Honor.

COMMISSIONER WILSON: I'm going to allow the question.

(Tr. 36.)

The Company took the position throughout that, unless the Commission staff presented witnesses, testimony and engaged in an

adversarial role with the Company, it could not investigate the Company's filing. The Company apparently believed that once it had complied with the filing requirements it was entitled to a rate increase if the staff did not make an affirmative case to the contrary.

4. The Appellant erroneously interprets the concept of "Burden of Proof".

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